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Independent auditor’s report
to the directors of Bayzed Health Group Inc
(Incorporated in the Cayan Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Bayzed Health Group Inc (“the Company™) and
its subsidiaries (“the Group™) set out on pages 4 to 69, which comprise the consolidated statements of
financial position of the Group and the statements of financial position of the Company as at 31 December
2022, 2023 and 2024, the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statements of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statements for each of the
years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the Company’s and the
Group’s financial position as at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and of the Group’s consolidated
financial performance and the Group’s consolidated cash flows for each of the years ended 31 December
2022, 2023 and 2024 in accordance with the basis of preparation and presentation set out in Note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs™) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA™). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code™) together with any ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Emphasis of Matter — Basis of Preparation and Presentation

We draw attention to Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, which describes the basis of
preparation and presentation. The consolidated financial statements are prepared for the purpose of the
preparation of a prospectus by the directors of the Company in connection with the initial public offering
of shares of the Company on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. As a result,
the consolidated financial statements may not be suitable for another purpose. Our opinion is not modified
in respect of this matter.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in accordance with the basis of preparation and presentation set out in Note 1
to the consolidated financial statements and for such internal control as the directors of the Company
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate
the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. The report is made solely to you, as a body. and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.



Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate.
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors of the Company regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

Eowlf Bpashen CLEP

8/F, KPMG Tower
Oriental Plaza

No. | East Chang An Ave,
Beijing

13 June 2025



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Expressed in Renminbi ("RMB”))

Note

Revenue 4

Cost of sales
Gross profit

Other net income 5
Selling expenses

General and administrative expenses
Impairment loss on trade and bills
receivables

(Loss)/profit from operations
Finance cost 6(a)

(Loss)/profit before taxation
Income tax 7{a)

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income for the
year that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss
(after tax and reclassification
adjustments)

Exchange differences on translation of

financial statements of foreign
operations

Total comprehensive income for
the year

Loss for the year attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company

Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income
attributable to:

Equity shareholders of the Company

Non-controlling interests

Loss per share 10
Basic and diluted (RMB)

OR LOSS

AND OTHER

Year ended 31 December

2022 2023 2024
RMB 000 RMB'000  RMB'000
802,652 1,072,173 1,188,846
(723,095) (894,009) (980,649)
79,557 178,164 208,197
5,025 5,181 4,971
(12,019) (13,467) (11,834)
(108,587)  (147.172)  (165.696)
(2,063) (274) (649)
(38.087) 22,432 34,989
(24,437) (27,042) (21,677)
(62.524) (4,610) 13,312
(12,991) (19,796) (16,869)
(75.515) (24,406) (3,557)
(32) (1.657) 1,270
(75.547) (26,063) (2,287)
(58.018) (26.389) (13,457)
(17,497) 1,983 9,900
(75.515) (24,406) (3.557)
(58,050) (28,046) (12,187)
(17,497) 1,983 9,900
(75.547) (26,063) (2,287)
N/A N/A N/A

The accompanying notes form part of the consolidated financial statements.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(Expressed in RMB)

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Goodwill

Deferred tax assets

Other non-current assets

Current assets

Inventories

Trade and bills receivables
Prepayments and other receivables
Restricted cash

Cash and cash equivalents

Current liabilities

Trade and bills payables
Other payables

Contract liabilities
[nterest-bearing borrowings
Lease liabilities

Current taxation

Net current liabilities

Total assets less current liabilities

Note

11
12
13
14

25(b)

]

16

17
18¢a)
18(a)

19
20
21
22
23
25(a)

As at 31 December
2022 2023 2024

RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000

378,492 368.884 364,021
220,770 211,056 184,887
247,442 243,415 236,395
643.049 643,049 643,049
4,688 5,662 6,765
2,710 6,158 9,977
1,497,151 1.478.224 1,445,094
55.898 59,659 62,758
198.912 196,339 262,087
213,228 214,572 120,637
20,574 20,621 18,270
125,188 241,991 294,240
613,800 733,182 T57:992
264,246 251225 313,880
154,704 113,526 115077
83,378 75.581 30,739
202,010 257,314 292,090
21,368 21,997 22,908
16,756 15,745 6.979
742,462 735,388 #8713
(128.662) (2.206) (23,781)
1,368,489 1,476,018 1,421,313



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in RMB)

Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing borrowings
Lease liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities

NET ASSETS

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital
Reserves

Total equity attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

TOTAL EQUITY

As at 31 December

Note 2022 2023 2024
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB'000
22 74,365 94,042 65,100
23 159.867 156.914 137,160
25(b) 47,767 49,544 48,987
281,999 300,500 251,247
1,086,490 1,175,518 1,170,066

26
43 78 78
987.861 1,084.046 1,069.162
987.904 1,084,124 1,069,240
98.586 91,394 100,826
1,086.490 1,175,518 1,170,066

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 13 June 2025.

—

L

Zhao YongKai
Director

THRo

Chen HaoYang
Director

The accompanying notes form part of the consolidated financial statements.



STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
(Expressed in RMB)

As at 31 December
Note 2022 2023 2024
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries i - * *
Prepayments and other receivables 17 8,356 16,855 79.340

Current assets
Prepayments and other receivables 17 = 43 6,230
Cash and cash equivalents - 117,263 55,825

- 117,306 62,055

Current liabilities
Other payables 20 1,831 15,999 37,158
Interest-bearing borrowings 131 - -

Net current (liabilities)/assets (1,962) 101,307 24,897
Total assets less current liabilities 6,394 118,162 104,237
NET ASSETS 6,394 118,162 104,237

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Share capital 26(b) 43 78 78
Reserves 26(a) 6,351 118,084 104,159
TOTAL EQUITY 6,394 118,162 104,237
* The balance represents an amount less than RMBS500.

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 13 June 2025.

//%7” /Vl/ ?@?\ j\h

—c 4
Zhao YongKai Chen HaoYang
Director Director

The accompanying notes form part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS

(Expressed in RMB)

Operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Income tax paid

Net cash generated from operating
activities

Investing activities

Payment for purchase of property,
plant and equipment

Payment for purchase of intangible
assets

Payment for acquisition of
subsidiaries, net of cash acquired

Received from related parties

Loans to related parties

Net cash (used in)/generated from
investing activities

Financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of shares and
capital contributions to subsidiaries

Proceeds from interest-bearing
borrowings

Repayment of interest-bearing
borrowings

Capital element of lease rentals paid

Interest element of lease rentals paid

Year ended 31 December

Note 2022 2023 2024
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

18(b) 123,374 148,375 195,835
25(a) (8.979) (20,004) (27,295)
114,395 128,371 168,540

(29,437) (45,368) (43,874)

(6,913) (8.440) (2.580)

27 (149,356) - -
11.362 1,400 98,620

(34,336) (6.198) -

(208.680) (58,606) 52,166

35,520 128,542 -

18¢(c) 184,901 243,587 206,808
18(c) (81,136) (220,197)  (350.849)
18(c) (10,516) (17.729) (19,001)
18(c) (8,347) (8.249) (8,038)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in RMB)

Interest expense paid

Increase in deposits with banks

Withdrawal of deposits with banks

Acquisition of non-controlling
interests

Disposal of equity interest in a
subsidiary without loss of control

Advances from related parties

Repayment to related parties

Dividend declared by subsidiary to
non-controlling sharecholder

Proceeds from equity-settled share-
based payment

Effect on equity arising from group

reorganisation

Expenses paid in connection with the

proposed issuance of new shares

Net cash generated from/(used in)
financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at the
end of the year

Note

18(c)

18(c)

18(¢c)
18(c)

26(c)(ii)

18(a)

18(a)

Year ended 31 December

2022 2023 2024
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB 000
(15,270) (18,407) (13.462)

(60) 47) (20)

= - 20,641
(20.874) (1,011) (3.771)
5,000 - -
6.628 - -
(70,554) (46,510) (1,498)
- (9.175) -
35,592 2,332 3,600
(6,824) (4,276) =
(635) (1,822) (2.867)
53,425 47,038 (168,457)
(40,860) 116,803 52,249
166,048 125,188 241,991
125,188 241,991 294,240

The accompanying notes form part of the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

1 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRESENTATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.1 General information

Bayzed Health Group Inc (the “Company™) was incorporated in Cayman Islands on 9 December 2021 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Act (As Revised) of the Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company and has not carried on any business since the date of its incorporation
save for the group reorganisation mentioned below. The Company and its subsidiaries (together, “the Group™) primarily
focused on hospital business and hospital management business. the revenue of the Group generated from (i) operating
six private for-profit hospitals and providing healthcare services including full-cycle oncology healthcare services and
other medical services, (ii) managing and operating, and receiving management fees from two privale not-for-profit
hospitals and (iii) supply of pharmaceuticals, medical equipment and consumables in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC™).

Prior to the incorporation of the Company, the above-mentioned principal activities were carried out by Bayzed Medical
Investment Group Company Limited ({52850 EE 057445, “Bayzed Medical Investment™) and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Bayzed Medical Group™). To rationalise the corporate structure in preparation of the listing of the
Company’s shares on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange™). the
Group underwent a corporate reorganisation (the “Reorganisation™) as detailed in the section headed “History. Reorganization
and Corporate Structure”™ in the Prospectus. Upon completion of the Recorganisation on 8 August 2023, the Company
became the holding company of the companies now comprising the Group. Details of the Group’s principal subsidiaries are
set out in Note 1.2.

The Reorganisation only involved interspersing the Company and certain investment holding companies. which
are newly formed entities with no substantive business operations, as the new holding companies of Bayzed Medical
Group. There were no changes in the economic substance of the ownership of and the business of the Group before and
after the Reorganisation. Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared and presented as a
continuation of the consolidated financial statements of Bayzed Medical Group with the assets and liabilities recognised
and measured at their historical carrying amounts prior to the Reorganisation.

The consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statements of changes
in equity and the consolidated cash flow statements of the Group include the financial performance and cash flows of
the companies now comprising the Group for each of the years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 (the * Track
Record Period™) as if the current group structure had been in existence throughout the Track Record Period (or where a
company now comprising the Group was incorporated/established/acquired at a date later than | January 2022, for the period
from the date of incorporation/establishment/acquisition, where this is a shorter period). The consolidated statements of
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 have been prepared to present the state of
financial position of the companies now comprising of the Group as at those dates as if the current group structure
had been in existence as at the respective dates, taking into account the respective dates of incorporation or
establishment, where applicable.

Intra-group balances, transactions and unrealised gains/losses on intra-group transactions are eliminated in full
in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

There are no audited statutory financial statements prepared for the Company.

13



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

1 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRESENTATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

1.2 Subsidiaries

At the date of this report, particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Company name

Bayzed Medical Investment Group Company
Limited. (“Bayzed Medical Investment™) {§
R EEIE R (Netes (i), (i), (iv),

fv) and (vi))

Anhui Baihui Hospital Management Company
Limited. ZEEEREEHAREELE
(Notes (i), (ii), (iv), (vi and fvi})

Bayway Rehabilitation Health Management
Company Limited. FRIFHERIER AR
& (Notes (i), (i1}, (vi) and (vii})

Beijing Baize Medical Management Co., Lid.
IFEERRERARLE Notes (), (i),
(iv), (v) and (vi))

Bayway Early Screening Health Technology
(Beijing) Company Limited, GHIREF R
LT VAR E] (Notes (i), (i), (vi) and
(vii))

Shanxi Bayway Hospital Management
Partnership (Limited Parmership) (PG5
WhEE B R EEREE) Notes (), (i)
and (vii))

Henan Baihui Medical Investment Management
Co, Lid. FIFEEHEHRTERARLAE
Notes (i), (ii), (vi} and fvii})

Tianjin Bayway Hospital Management
Partnership (Limited Partnership) (*Tianjin
Bayway Management”) 3 E B ERS
B EEIREE) (Notes (i), (iii) and (vii))

Tianjin Baihui Medical Management Co., Ltd.
(“Tianjin Baihui Medical Management”)
REESHEEATRAE (Notes (i), (i), (iv),
v} and (vi)

Tianjin Yizhong Junan Hospital Management
Partnership (Limited Partnership) (*Yizhong
Junan Hospital Management”) K38 R 8%
HITERAE CRCEIREE) Notes (i), fiil),
and (vii))

Taiyuan Peace Hospital Management Company
Limited. HEriAIF R EHARAS
(Notes (i), (i), (iv), (v} and (vi))

Zhengzhou Baikang Hospital Management
Company Limited. #iiHER SR ERAR L
©] (Notes (i), (i), (vi) and (vii})

Place and date
of establishment
and operation

The PRC,
31 July 2017

The PRC,
6 September
2019

The PRC,
4 September
2020

The PRC,
19 May 2020

The PRC,
27 July 2018

The PRC,
16 November
2018

The PRC,
23 December
2021

The PRC,
27 August
2018

The PRC,
13 September
2018

The PRC,
30 July 2019

The PRC,
1 November
2018

The PRC,
19 January
2022

Registered capital

RMB1.234,216,046

RMB300,000,000

RMB300,000,000

RMB 10,000,000

RMB300,000,000

RMB 100,000,000

RMB 100,000,000

RMB94.,000,000

RMB20.000,000

RMB37,066,000

RMB100,000,000

RMB60,000,000
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Paid-up capital

RMB1,217,823,318

RMB300.000,000

RMB 100,000,000

RMB10.000,000

RMB300.000,000

RMB230,000,000

RMB 100,000,000

RMB79.000.000

RMB20.000,000

RMB30.332,000

RMB44.,250,000

RMB60,000,000

Effective
interest

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

99.00%

85.00%

100.00%

70.00%

64.62%

59.40%

85.00%

Principal activities

Investment holding

Hospital management
and consulting
service

Hospital management
and consulting
service

Hospital management
and consulting
service

Hospital management
and consulting
service

Hospital management
and consulting
service

Hospital management
and consulting
service

Hospital management
and consulting
service

Hospital management
and consulting
service

Hospital management
and consulting
service

Hospital management
and consulting
service

Hospital management
and consulting
service



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

1 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRESENTATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Place and date

of establishment Effective
Company name and operation Registered capital Paid-up capital inferest  Principal activities
Anhui Shoukang Medical Investment Company The PRC, RMBI104,109,000  RMB104,109,000 69.92% Hospital management
Limited. (“Anhui Shoukang Investment”) % 19 December and Investment
EHREREERAE Notes (1), (i), () 2014 service
v) and (vi))
Hefei Bayway Hospital Co., Ltd. (*Hefei The PRC, RMB30,000,000 RMB30,000,000 67.00% General healthcare
Bayway Hospital”) & EHERARAE 13 November services
{Notes (i), (ii), (iv), (v} and (vi)) 2020
Tianjin Nankai Jixing Hospital Company The PRC, RMB6,000,000 RMB6,000,000 70.00% General healthcare
Limited. (*Tianjin Nankai Jixing Hospital”) 23 November services

RERRFERRRARFEAE Noes 1) 2015
(i), (iv), (v} and (vi))

Tianjin Shishi Hospital Company Limited. X The PRC, RMB350,000,000 RMB50,000,000 56.00% General healthcare
HELERRARAE (Notes i), (i), (iv), (v) 4 March 2020 services
and (vi))

Bejing Medical Creation United Technology The PRC, RMB72.000,000 RMB22.000,000 100.00% Scientific research
Development Company Limited. (“Beijing 26 December center

Medical Creation”) JERBERIERESRE 2016
PRASE] (Notes (i), (i), (v), (vi) and (vii))

Western Beijing Cancer Hospital Company The PRC, RMB 50,000,000 RMBS0,000,000 66.46% General healthcare
Limited. (“Western Beijing Cancer 17 October services
Hospital”) JERRARERERARLE (Nores 2011
(i), fii), (v, (v) and (vi))

Taiyuan Peace Hospital Company Limited. The PRC, RMB3,000,000 RMB3,000,000 59.40% General healthcare
{“Taiyuan Peace Hospital”) A FFIEREE 11 May 2021 services
[R4NE] (Notes (i), (i), (v}, (vi) and (vii))

Wuzhi Jimin Hospital Company Limited. The PRC, RMB40,000,000  RMB40,000,000 68.00% General healthcare
(“Wuzhi Jimin Hospital”) @ #RREREER 13 April 2017 services
FEAT] (Notes (i), (i), (v), (vi) and (vii))

Henan Huibai Medical Equipment Co., Ltd. Ji  The PRC, RMBS5,000,000 RMB3,000,000 68.00% Supply of medical
I HEREREER LT (Notes (i), (ii), (i) 13 July 2022 equipment and

and (vii)) consumables

Henan Tengfang Medical Equipment Co, Ltd.  The PRC, RMB3.000,000 - 68.00% Supply of medical
SRR SRR NG (Notes (i), (i) 21 September equipment and
fvi) and (vii)) 2022 consumables

Huangshan Bekang Pharmacy Co., Lid. The PRC, RMB600,000 RMB600,000 69.92% Supply of
(“*Huangshan Bokang”) w51 IFHE AR AR 17 November pharmaceuticals,
28] (Notes (i), (ii), (iv), (v) and (vi)) 2014 medical equipment

and consumables

Anhui Ruizhong Medical Technology Company — The PRC, RMB 10,000,000 RMB2,500,000 69.92% Supply of medical
Limited. (“Anhui Ruizhong™) % & he 5 31 December equipment and
FRIEHIRAE (Notes (i, (i), (iv), () and 2020 consumables
(i)

Huangshan Bohong Pharmaceutical Sales The PRC, RMB3,500,000  RMB3,500,000 69.92% Supply of
Company Limited. (*Huangshan Bohong™) 24 May 2018 pharmaceuticals,
wHTREHEERAF Notes (i), (i), medical equipment
{iv), (v) and (vi)) and consumables

Anhui Weizhong Medical Equipment Sales Co,  The PRC, RMB3,000,000 - 69.92% Supply of medical
Ld. FREHIERERAEERELLAR 6 June 2022 equipment and
{Notes (i), (i), (vi) and (vii)) consumables
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

1 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRESENTATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATMENTS (CONTINUED)

Place and date

of establishment Effective
Company name and operation Registered capital Paid-up capital interest Principal activities
Beiyi Baihui Medical Management (Shanghai) — The PRC, RMB94,497,341 RMB78,104.613  100.00% Investment holding
Co., Ltd. (“Beiyi Baihui Medical 29 July 2021
(Shanghai)”) ILEHAERFET(LBYRIRL
] (Notes (1), (ii), (v), (vi) and (vii))
Beijing Huishi Medical Equipment Sales Co., - The PRC, RMB1,000.000  RMBL000,000  100.00% Supply of medical
Lid. L SRR E AR A 11 September equipment and
(Notes (i), (it), {vi) and (vii}) 2023 consumables

Notes:

(i) The official name of these entities is in Chinese. The English translation is included for identification only.
(i)  These entities were registered as limited liability companies under the laws and regulations in the PRC.
(iii)  These entities were registered as limited partnership companies under the laws and regulations in the PRC.

(iv)  These entities prepared the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 in accordance with the
PRC GAAP. The financial statements were audited by Beijing Dongshen Certified Public Accountants LLP (1f

RURE O AT RS A R)).

(v)  These entities prepared the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 in accordance with the
PRC GAAP. The financial statements were audited by Beijing Dongshen Certified Public Accountants LLP (1f

SR G AR TR ).

(vi)  These entities prepared the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 in accordance with the
PRC GAAP. The financial statements were audited by Beijing Dongshen Certified Public Accountants LLP ([

SHEGRTAIBE R E ).

(vii) No audited financial statements were prepared for these entities during the Track Record Period except for the audited
financial statements mentioned in Notes (iv), (v) and (vi).

All companies now comprising the Group have adopted 31 December as their financial year end date.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with [FRS Accounting Standards as issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (the “LASB™). As the Group’s first consolidated financial statements prepared
in accordance with [FRS Accounting Standards, IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards™
has been applied save for certain presentation and disclosure provisions therein. The date of transition to [FRS Accounting
Standards was 1 January 2022, i.e. beginning of the Track Record Period. Further details of the material accounting policies
adopted by the Group are set out in Note 2.

The IASB has issued a number of new and revised [FRS Accounting Standards. For the purpose of preparing this
consolidated financial statements, the Group has adopted all applicable new and revised IFRS Accounting Standards to the
Track Record Period, except for any new and revised or amended standards that are not yet effective for the accounting period
beginning on 1 January 2024. The new and revised or amended accounting standards issued but not yet effective for the
accounting period beginning on 1 January 2024 are set out in Note 32.

The consolidated financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in the consolidated
financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi ("RMB™) and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

1 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRESENTATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the assumption that the Group will continue as a
going concern, notwithstanding that the Group recorded net current liabilities as at 31 December 2022, 2023 and
2024. The directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s working capital forecast for the 12 months after 31 December
2024, and are of the opinion that the Group will have necessary liquid funds to finance its working capital and capital
expenditure requirements faking into account forecasted cash inflow from operations and unutilised banking facilities
at 31 December 2024.

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(a)  Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are the historical cost
basis.

(b)  Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS Accounting Standards requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or inthe period
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRS Accounting Standards that have significant effect
on the consolidated financial statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in Note 3.

(¢) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements
from the date on which control commences until the date on which control ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses (except for foreign currency transaction
gains or losses) arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.

For each business combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling interests (“NCI™) at the
NCI's proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

NCT are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position within equity, separately from equity attributable
to the equity shareholders of the company. NCI in the results of the Group are presented on the face ofthe consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between NCI and the equity shareholders of the company. Loans from holders of
NCT and other contractual obligations towards these holders are presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated statement
of financial position in accordance with notes 2(m) and (n) depending on the nature of the liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity (ransactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, and
any related NCI and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained

in that former subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses
(see note 2(h)). unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group classified as held for sale).

(d)  Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree and the fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree: over

(it)  the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill arising on a business combination is allocated
to each cash-generating unit, or groups of cash generating units, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the

combination and is tested annually for impairment (see Note 2(h)(ii)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit, any attributable amount of purchased goodwill is included in the
calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

(e)  Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see Note 2(h)(ii)).

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and equipment includes the cost of materials, direct labour,
the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which
they are located. and an appropriate proportion of production overheads and borrowing costs (see Note 2(s)).

Items may be produced while bringing an item of property, plant and equipment to the location and condition necessary
for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. The proceeds from selling any such items
and the related costs are recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are

determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are recognised
in profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property. plant and equipment. less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

- Leaschold improvement Shorter of the lease term and 20 years
- Buildings 8§ — 50 years

- Medical equipment 5 — 10 years

- Motor vehicles 5 — 10 years

- Office and other equipment 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the item is
allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an
asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

) Intangible assets

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the
estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses (see Note 2(h)(ii)). Expenditure on internally generated goodwill
and brands is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over

the assets” estimated useful lives. The following intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised from the date
they are available for use and their estimated useful lives are as follows:

- Software 5 to 10 years
- Management contracts 40 years
- Medical licenses 20 years
- GSP Certificate 5 years
- Cooperation relationship 6 years

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed annually.
Software

Costs incurred to acquire and bring the computer software into use are capitalised. Costs associated with
maintaining computer software are recognised as expense as incurred.

Management contracts

Management contracts are the contractual rights to provide management services to hospitals. These contractual
rights acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. The management
determine the useful life of management contracts based on the service periods agreed in the contractual agreements.
Medical licenses

Medical licenses acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. In considering
the estimated useful lives, renewal periods are considered only if there is evidence to support renewal by the Group

without significant cost. The management estimated useful life of the medical licenses based on industry practice and
regulatory landscapes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
The Good Supply Practices for Pharmaceutical Products Certificate (“GSP Certificate”)

GSP certificate acquired in a business combination is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. The management
estimated useful life of the GSP certificate based on industry practice and regulatory landscapes.

Cooperation relationship

Cooperation relationship acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
The estimated useful life of the cooperation relationship is based on an analysis of the relationships with the business partner,

(2) Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct the use of the
identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

(i) As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not to
separate non-lease components and accounts for each lease component and any associated non-lease components as
a single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. except for
short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. When the Group enters
into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis.
The lease payments associated with those leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term. discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot
be readily determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the lease liability is
measured at amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using the effective interest method. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability and hence
are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is initially measured at cost. which comprises the
initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, and any initial
direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located,
discounted to their present value, less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see Note 2(h)(ii)).

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, or there is a change arising from the reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably certain to
exercise a purchase, extension or termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way. a corresponding
adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change in the scope of a lease or the consideration for
a lease that is not originally provided for in the lease contract (“lease modification™ that is not accounted for as a
separate lease. In this case the lease liability is remeasured based on the revised lease payments and lease term using
a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification. The only exceptions are rent concessions that
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

occurred as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and met the conditions set out in paragraph 46B of IFRS
16 Leases. In such cases. the Group has taken advantage of the practical expedient not to assess whether the rent  concessions
are lease modifications. and recognised the change in consideration as negative variable lease payments in profit or
loss in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the rent concessions occurred.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the current portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined
as the present value of contractual payments that are due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting
period.

(h)  Credit losses and impairment of assets
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) on financial assets measured at
amortised cost (including cash and cash equivalents. trade receivables and other receivables).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of
all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition or
an approximation thereof for trade and other receivables.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the
Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort. This includes information about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from possible default events within the 12
months after the reporting date; and

= lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL model applies.

For all other financial instruments (including loan commitments issued), the Group recognises a loss allowance
equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk of the financial instrument since
initial recognition. in which case the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument (including a loan commitment) has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of default occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the
reporting date with that assessed at the date of initial recognition. In making this reassessment. the Group considers
that a default event occurs when the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held). The Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

- failure to make payments of principal or interest on their contractually due dates:

= an actual or expected significant deterioration in a financial instrument’s external or internal credit
rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is performed
on either an individual basis or a collective basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The
Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with Note 2(q)(iv) is calculated based on the gross carrying amount

of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based

on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter into bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation:

- significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties of the issuer,
Write-off” policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there
is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the debtor does not

have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-
off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment
in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

2

(i)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to identify

indications that the following assets may be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

= property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use assets;

- intangible assets:

= goodwill: and

- investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, intangible

assets that are not yet available for use and intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount
is estimated annually whether or not there is any indication of impairment.

(i

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
Where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent of those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit). A portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (for example, head office building) is
allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if the allocation can be done on a reasonable and consistent basis, or
to the smallest group of cash-generating units if otherwise.

- Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in
respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
the cash-generating unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the
unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis. except that the carrving value of an asset will not be reduced below
its individual fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if determinable).

- Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill
is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are credited
to profit or loss in the year in which the reversals are recognised.

Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the ordinary course of business. in the process of production

for such sale or in the form of materials or supplies to be consumed in the production process or in the rendering of
services.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold. the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in the period
in which the related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised
as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of
inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which
the reversal occurs.

A right to recover returned goods is recognised for the right to recover products from customers sold with a
right of return.

(i) Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment of that consideration is
due.

(k)  Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue (see Note 2(q)). A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has an unconditional
right to receive non-refundable consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a
corresponding receivable would also be recognised (see Note 2(j)).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing component, the contract balance includes interest accrued
under the effective interest method (see Note 2(s)).

) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for expected credit losses (ECL) in accordance with the policy
set out in Note 2(h)(i).

(m) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other payables
are stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
invoice amounts.
(n)  Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,

interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense is
recognised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs (see Note 2(s)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(o)  Employee benefits
(i) Short-term employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost
of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered by employees. Where payment
or settlement is deferred and the effect would be material. these amounts are stated at their present values.

(ii)  Share-based payments

The fair value of share granted to employees is recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding increase
in other reserve within equity. Where the employees have to meet vesting conditions before becoming unconditionally entitled
to the shares, the total estimated fair value of the shares is spread over the vesting period, taking into account the
probability that the shares will vest.

On vesting date, the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of shares that
vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the other reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to not achieving
vesting conditions that relate to the market price of the company’s shares.

(iii)  Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits
and when it recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of termination benefits.

(p) Inmcome tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax
and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts
of tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year. using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years,

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting
nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of a business combination), and temporary differences relating to
investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable differences. the Group controls the timing of the
reversal and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the future.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities separately in relation to its lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit
to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognised when the liability to pay
the related dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against
deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax labilities and the following additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

- the same taxable entity: or

- different taxable entities. which, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets and
settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle simultaneously.

(q) Revenue and other income

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the goods or services in
the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. The Group recognises revenue when it transfers control of the goods
or services to a customer.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to
be that which the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with
the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

(i) Inpatient services and outpatient services

For inpatient service, the customers normally receive inpatient treatment which contains various treatment components
that are all highly relevant and regarded as one performance obligation. Relevant revenue of inpatient treatment is
recognised over time because the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group.
The progress towards the complete satisfaction of performance obligation is measured by direct measurements of the value
of the goods or services transferred by the Group to the customer.

For outpatient services. revenue from the provision of outpatient services is recognised at a point in time when
the services are provided. Revenue is recognised when the customer obtains the control of the completed services and
the Group has satisfied its performance obligations with present right to payment and the collection of the consideration
is probable.

(ii)  Hospital management service

The Group provides the management related services to private not-for-profit hospitals over the service period.
The hospital receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs. The
Group uses a time-based measure of progress. Revenue from provision of managed hospital management services is recognised
over the period in which the services are rendered. For revenue from hospital management services, service fee is
calculated based on pre-set formulas set out in the arrangements, which primarily relating to the managed hospital’s
revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(iii)  Supply of pharmaceuticals, medical equipment and consumables

Revenue from supplying of pharmaceutical, medical equipment and consumables is recognised when control of
the inventory has been transferred, i.e when the goods are delivered to the customer and there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the goods.

(iv)  Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under the effective interest method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset.

) Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic basis in
the same periods in which the expenses are incurred.

(r)  Translation of foreign currencies

The Company has its functional currency in USD. As the Group’s operations are conducted by the subsidiaries
of the Group in Chinese Mainland in RMB, the consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB.

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. The transaction date is the date on which
the Group initially recognises such non-monetary assets or liabilities. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates
the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into RMB, the Group’s presentation currency, at the exchange
rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial position
items, are translated into RMB at the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity in the exchange
reserve.

(s)  Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset which necessarily
takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that
asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure
for the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset
for its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when substantially
all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(t) Related parties
(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Group if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group:
(ii)  has significant influence over the Group: or
(iii)  is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each parent.
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(if) ~ One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of
a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vil) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

(u)  Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes
of allocating resources to. and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the segments
have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products and services, the nature of
production processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide the services,
and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

3 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
Key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:
(a) Impairment of non-current assets

If circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a non-current asset may not be recoverable, the asset may
be considered “impaired”, and an impairment loss may be recognised in accordance with accounting policy for
impairment of non-current assets as described in Note 2(h)(ii). These assets are tested for impairment whenever the
events or changes in circumstances indicate that their recorded carrying amounts may not be fully recoverable.

When such a decline has occurred, the carrying amount is reduced to recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the greater of the fair value less costs of disposal and the value in use. In determining the value in use,
expected future cash flows generated by the asset are discounted to their present value, which requires significant
Jjudgement relating to the level of revenue and amount of operating costs. The Group uses all readily available
information in determining an amount that is a reasonable approximation of the recoverable amount. including
estimates based on reasonable and supportable assumptions and projections of the level of revenue and amount of
operating costs. Changes in these estimates could have a significant impact on the recoverable amount of the assets
and could result in additional impairment charge or reversal of impairment in future periods.

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(a)  Revenue

The Group is principally engaged in hospital business, hospital management services, supply of pharmaceuticals,
medical equipment and consumables and other business.

Disaggregation of revenue

Year ended 31 December

2022 2023 2024
RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB 000
Over time:
— Inpatient services 379,389 515.940 544,428
— Hospital management services 37315 41,121 39.567
416,704 557.061 583,995
At point in time:
— Outpatient services 216,542 289,881 400,737
— Supply of pharmaceuticals. medical equipment
and consumables 146,730 215,158 190,686
— Other business 22.676 10.073 13,428
385,948 515,112 604,851
Revenue from contracts with customers 802,652 1,072,173 1,188,846
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

4

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

All of the revenue of the Group is generated from contracts with customers within the scope of IFRS 15.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph 121(a) of IFRS 15 and therefore the information

about remaining performance obligations is not disclosed for contracts that have an expected duration of one year or

less.

(b)

Segment reporting

Accordingly., no operating segment information is presented.

and accordingly. no analysis of geographic information is presented.

(¢)

Information about major customers

The Group’s most senior exceutive management assesses performance and allocates resources on a group basis.

The Group generated all revenue in the PRC and its non-current assets are substantially located in the PRC,

During the Track Record Period, there is one single customer, Huangshan Shoukang Hospital with whom transactions

has exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue in the respective reporting periods. Details of the transactions are disclosed
in Note 30(c). Other than this customer, none of the Group’s customers contributed 10% or more of the Group’s revenue
during the Track Record Period.

5

(a)

OTHER NET INCOME

Government grants
Interest income

(Loss)/gains on disposal of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets

Others

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging:

Finance cost

Interest on interest-bearing borrowings

Interest on lease liabilities
Others

Year ended 31 December

2022 2023 2024
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
2273 4,029 1.219
1,317 1,191 2.840
(44) (179) 2
1.479 140 910
5,025 5.181 4,971
Year ended 31 December
2022 2023 2024
RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB 000
15,270 18,407 13,462
8.347 8.249 8.038
820 386 177
24,437 27,042 21,677
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

6 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (CONTINUED)

(by  Staff cost

Salaries, wages and other benefits

Contributions to defined contribution retirement
plan (Nore)

Equity-settled share-based payment expenses

Year ended 31 December

2022 2023 2024
RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB 000
222.457 274.989 291411
17.836 24.368 26.615
178 N -
240,471 299,357 318.026

Note: The employees of the subsidiaries of the Group established in the Chinese mainland participate in defined
contribution retirement benefit plans managed by the local government authorities, whereby these
subsidiaries are required to contribute funds which are calculated based on certain percentages of the
average employee salary as agreed by the local municipal governments to the scheme to fund the retirement

benefits of the employees.

The Group has no further material obligation for payment of other retirement benefits beyond the above
contributions. Contributions to the plans vest immediately, there is no forfeited contributions that may

be used by the Group to reduce the existing level of contributions.

(c) Other items

Amortisation cost of intangible assets (Note 13)
Depreciation charge

— owned property, plant and equipment (Note 11)
— right-of-use assets (Note 12}

Listing expenses

Auditors” remuneration

Cost of inventories (Note 15(a))

Year ended 31 December

2022
RMB 000

9.266

41,857
23.421

620
458,562

2023
RMB'000

10.276

50.876
25,119
14,791
202
575,128

2024
RMB 000

11,053

49,997
26,346
16.053
189
660,986

7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(a)  Taxation in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income represents:

Current tax — the PRC Enterprise Income Tax

Provision for the year (Note 25(a))

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of temporary differences
(Note 23(b))
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2022 2023 2024
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB 000
16.984 18,993 18,529
(3.993) 803 (1,660}
12,991 19,796 16.869




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)
(b)  Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting (loss)/profit at applicable tax rates:

Year ended 31 December

Note 2022 2023 2024
RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB 000
(Loss)/profit before taxation (62.524) (4,610) 13312
Notional tax on (loss)/profit before
taxation, calculated at the rates
applicable in the jurisdictions (1), (ii),
concerned (iii) (15.631) (1.153) 3.328
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 304 241 699
Effect of PRC tax concessions (iv) (377) 20 (26)
Tax effect of unused tax losses and other
temporary differences not recognised 28.695 22,550 17.859
Tax effect of utilisation of previously
unrecognised tax losses - (1.821) (4.991)
Actual tax expense 12,991 19,796 16.869
Notes:

(i) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and the BVI, the Group is not subject to
any income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVIL.

(i) The subsidiaries of the Group established in the Chinese mainland are subject to PRC Enterprise Income
Tax rate of 25% during the Track Record Period.

(iii)  The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is subject to Hong Kong’s two-tiered profits tax regime, under which
the tax rate is 8.25% for assessable profits on the first HK$2 million and 16.50% for any assessable
profits in excess of HK$2 million. The Group’s subsidiary in Hong Kong SAR did not have any assessable
profits during the Track Record Period.

(iv)  Certain subsidiaries of the Group have been approved as Small Low-profit Enterprise (“SLE™). The

entitled subsidiaries are subject to a preferential income tax rate from 5% to 20% during the Track
Record Period.
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8 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
Details of the emoluments of the directors during the Track Record Period are as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2022

Salaries,

allowances Retirement

Directors’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme
fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB 000

Executive directors

Zhao Yongkai - 920 595 60 1.575
Xu Xu - 710 249 60 1,019
Chen Haoyang - 630 304 - 934
Lu Jizhong - 559 443 61 1,063
Feng Yu - 400 118 - 518
- 3.219 1.709 181 5,109

Year ended 31 December 2023

Salaries,

allowances Retirement

Directors’ and benefits  Discretionary scheme
fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
RMB 000 RMB 0010 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB'000

Executive directors

Zhao Yongkai - 928 560 65 1,553
Xu Xu - 807 480 65 1:352
Chen Haoyang - 720 480 - 1.200
Lu Jizhong - 645 379 65 1.089
Feng Yu - 480 320 - 800
- 3.580 2.219 195 5.994

Year ended 31 December 2024

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits  Discretionary scheme
fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB 000
Executive directors
Zhao Yongkai - 918 647 68 1.633
Xu Xu - 800 532 68 1,400
Chen Haoyang - 708 553 - 1.261
Lu Jizhong - 681 477 70 1,228
Feng Yu - 632 416 - 1,048
- 3,739 2,625 206 6,570
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8 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Xu Xu and Zhao Yongkai were appointed as executive directors of the Company in December 2021. Chen
Haoyang, Lu Jizhong and Feng Yu were appointed as executive directors of the Company in July 2023. The directors’
emoluments represented the amounts paid or payable for their services rendered to the Group during the Track Record Period.
including those for services rendered by them as key management personnel prior to their appointments as directors
of the Company.

Chan Hok Leung, Liu Shuang and Guo Wei were appointed as independent non-executive directors of the
Company on 9 June 2025.

During the Track Record Period, no director has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments and no amounts
were paid or payable by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of any office in connection with the management of the affairs of any member of the Group.

9 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

During the Track Record Period, of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three. four, and four are directors
of the Company for each of the years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024. respectively, whose emoluments
are disclosed in Note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the remaining highest paid individuals are
as follows:

Year ended 31 December

2022 2023 2024

RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000

Salaries and other emoluments 1,218 568 659
Discretionary bonuses 720 320 349
Retirement scheme contributions 115 65 65
2.053 953 1.073

The emoluments of the individuals who are not directors and who are amongst the five highest paid individuals
of the Group are within the following bands:

Number of individuals

Year ended 31 December

2022 2023 2024

HKD
0 — 1,000,000 _ _ _
1,000,001 — 1,500,000 2 1 1
2 1 1

During the Track Record Period, no amounts were paid or payable by the Group to the above
non-director highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of any office in connection with the management of the affairs of any member of the Group.

10 LOSS PER SHARE
No loss per share information is presented as its inclusion. for the purpose of this report. is not considered meaningful

due to the basis of preparation and presentation of the result of the Group for the Track Record Period as disclosed
in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.
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11

(a)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Reconciliation of carrying amount

Cost:

At 1 January 2022

Additions

Acquisition of subsidiaries
(Notes 27(a), (b} and (c))

Transfer inf(out)

Disposals

At 31 December 2022 and
1 January 2023

Additions

Transfer in/(out)

Disposals

At 31 December 2023 and
| January 2024

Additions

Transfer in/{out)

Disposals

At 31 December 2024

Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2022

Charge for the year

Writlen back on disposals

At 31 December 2022 and
| January 2023

Charge for the year

Written back on disposals

At 31 December 2023 and
1 January 2024

Charge for the year

Written back on disposals

At 31 December 2024

Net book value:
At 31 December 2024

At 31 December 2023

At 31 December 2022

35

Office and
Leasehold Medical Motor other  Construction
improvement Buildings equipment vehicles  equipment  in progress Total
RMB 000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000 RMB 000 RMB'000  RMB'000
174,022 - 94,178 2.607 20915 12,461 304.183
4,300 - 35952 9 2,842 16.402 59,505
18971 79,374 33.698 486 3,170 1400 137,099
24.261 - 1,980 - 529 (26,770) -
- - (3.700) - (364) - (4.064)
221,554 79,374 162,108 3.102 27,092 3493 496,723
4,097 - 22,888 2,033 3,797 8,668 41483
3,669 - - - 161 (3.830) -
- - (251) = (150) - 401)
229,320 79,374 184,745 i35 30,900 8,331 537.805
1,899 - 31,285 299 2313 10,130 45926
11,237 - 598 - 1,050 (12,885) -
- - (5,923) = (1,065) - (6,988)
242,456 79,374 210,705 5434 33,198 5,576 576,743
(42.744) - (25.896) (1,246) (10,184) - (80.070)
(12,346) (4.271) (21.255) (459) (3.526) B (41.857)
- - 3,342 - 354 - 3.696
(55.090) (4,271) (43.809) (1.705) (13.356) - (118231
(15.636) (5,693) (24.558) (1,004) (3.985) - (50.876)
- - 89 - 97 - 186
(70,726) (9,964) (68,278) (2,709) (17.244) - (168.921)
(16,935) (5,693) (22,781) (535) (4,053) - (49.997)
- - 5.175 - 1,021 - 6,196
(87.661) (15,657) (85.884) (3.244) (20.276) - (212,722)
_1_54._795 63,717 124,821 2,190 12,922 5,576 ﬂ
158,594 69.410 116.467 2.426 13,656 8.331 368.884
166,464 75,103 118,299 1,397 13,736 3,493 378.492



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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12

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use asscts by class of underlying asset is as follows:

Cost:
At 1 January 2022
Additions

Acquisition of subsidiaries (Notes 27(a) and (b))

Lease modification (Note)

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023
Additions
Lease matured

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024
Additions

Disposals

Lease matured

At 31 December 2024

Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2022
Charge for the year

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023
Charge for the year
Lease matured

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024
Charge for the year

Disposals

Lease matured

At 31 December 2024

Net book value:
At 31 December 2024

At 31 December 2023

At 31 December 2022

Property Land
leased use right Total
RMB 000 RMB’000 RMB 000
221,149 - 221.149
1,221 = 1.221
7,333 28.569 35,902
17,328 - 17.328
247,031 28,569 275,600
15.405 - 15.405
(1.416) - (1.4106)
261,020 28,569 289.589
1.847 = 1.847
(2,226) - (2,226)
(990) - (990)
259,651 28.569 288.220
(31.409) - (31.409)
(22.933) (488) (23.421)
(54.342) (488) (54.830)
(24.467) (652) (25.119)
1,416 - 1.416
(77.393) (1.140) (78.533)
(25.694) (652) (26,346)
556 - 556
990 - 990
(101,541) (1,792) (103.333)
158.110 26,777 184,887
183,627 27.429 211.056
192,689 28,081 220,770

Note: The Group entered into a new agreement with the lessor to extend the contractual lease term.

36



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

12 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in profit or loss is as follows:

Year ended 31 December

Note 2022 2023 2024
RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB 000
Depreciation charge of

right-of-use assets 23.421 25,119 26,346
Interest on lease liabilities 6la) 8.347 8.249 8.038
Expense relating to short-term leases 340 3.118 363

COVID-19-related rent concessions
received (2,741) - -

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out in Note 18(d)
and Note 23 respectively.

The Group has adopted the Amendment to IFRS 16, Leases, COVID-19-related rent concessions, and applies
the practical expedient to all eligible rent concessions received by the Group.

The Group leases hospital buildings and office under leases expiring in no more than twenty years. None of
the leases includes variable lease payments.
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13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Management Medical GSP  Cooperation
Software contracts licenses Certificate relationship Total
RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB 000  RMB'000

Cost:
At 1 January 2022 9,046 190,400 42,200 2,700 - 244,346
Addition 6.913 - - - - 6,913
Acquisition of subsidiaries

(Notes 27(a), (b) and (c)) 270 - 19.000 - 1.989 21,259
At 31 December 2022 and

| January 2023 16.229 190,400 61,200 2,700 1,989 272,518
Addition 6,249 - - - - 6,249
At 31 December 2023 and

| January 2024 22,478 190,400 61,200 2,700 1,989 278.767
Addition 4,033 - - - - 4,033
At 31 December 2024 26,511 190,400 61,200 2,700 1,989 282.800
Accumulated amortisation

and impairment:
At 1 January 2022 (1.069) (7.934) (5.907) (900) - (15.810)
Amortisation (1.143) (4,760) (2,823) (540) - (9.266)
At 31 December 2022 and

1 January 2023 (2.212) (12,694) (8,730) (1,440) - (25,076)
Amortisation (1.584) (4,760) (3,060) (540) (332) (10.276)
At 31 December 2023 and

1 January 2024 (3,796) (17.454)  (11,790) (1,980) (332): (35352)
Amortisation (2,361) (4.760) (3,060) (540) (332) (11,033)
At 31 December 2024 o615y (22.214) (148500 | (2,520) 1 (664)  (46.405)
Net book value:
At 31 December 2024 20,354 168,186 46,350 180 1,325 236,395
At 31 December 2023 18.682 172,946 49,410 720 1,657 243415
At 31 December 2022 14,017 177,706 52,470 1,260 1,989 247,442

The amortisation charge is included in “cost of sales”, “selling expenses™ and “general and administrative
expenses” according to the function of amortisation charge.
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14 GOODWILL

RMB'000

Cost:
At 1 January 2022 531.462
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Notes 27(b) and (c)) 135,578
At 31 December 2022, 31 December 2023 and

31 December 2024 667.040
Accumulated impairment losses:
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, 31 December 2023 and

31 December 2024 23,991
Carrying amount:
At 31 December 2022, 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2024 643.049

Goodwill is allocated to the Group's cash-generating units identified according to operation and operating

segment as follows:

As at 31 December

2022 2023 2024

RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000

Western Beijing Cancer Hospital 323,465 323,465 323.465
Tianjin Nankai Jixing Hospital 22,741 22,741 22,741
Anhui Shoukang Investment 98,340 98,340 98,340
Hefei Bayway Hospital 62,925 62,925 62.925
Wuzhi Jimin Hospital 110,143 110,143 110.143
Beijing Medical Creation 25,435 25,435 25,435
643,049 643,049 643,049

The recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units were determined based on the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use calculations of the underlying assets with reference to valuation reports issued by
an independent valuer. These calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year period. These cash flow projections adopted annual sales growth rates, which are
based on the Group’s historical experience with these operations and adjusted for other factors that are specific to
each cash-generating unit. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using an estimated growth rate.

The discount rates used are pre-taxed and reflect specific risks relating to the respective cash generating units.
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14

GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

The key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations for the above cash-generating units are as follows:

Western Beijing Cancer Hospital

Annual sales growth rate beyond five-year
Discount rate

Tianjin Nankai Jixing Hospital

Annual sales growth rate beyond five-year
Discount rate

Anhui Shoukang Investment

Annual sales growth rate beyond five-year
Discount rate

Hefei Bayway Hospital

Annual sales growth rate beyond five-year
Discount rate

Wuzhi Jimin Hospital

Annual sales growth rate beyond five-year
Discount rate

Beijing Medical Creation

Annual sales growth rate beyond five-year
Discount rate

period

period

period

period

period

period

2022

2.50%

17.75%

2.50%
20.22%

18.67%

2.50%
19.07%

2.50%
19.49%

As at 31 December

2023

2.50%

17.86%

2.50%
20.03%

2.50%
19.25%

2.50%
18.46%

2.50%
18.94%

2.50%
19.87%

2024

2.00%

18.25%

2.00%
20.19%

2.00%
19.30%

2.00%
18.70%

2.00%
20.25%

Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using an estimated growth rate by reference to the
long-term inflation rate of China and the growth rate which is consistent with the market consensus on long-term
growth rate of relevant market in the PRC.

As a result of the impairment tests, the managements are of the view that there was no impairment of goodwill

impairment as of 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024,

as of 31 December 2022. 2023 and 2024. Reasonably possible changes in key assumptions would not lead to

The headroom calculated by deducting the carrying amount from the recoverable amount of each of
cash-generating units is as follows:

Western Beijing Cancer Hospital
Tianjin Nankai Jixing Hospital
Anhui Shoukang Investment
Hefei Bayway Hospital

Wuzhi Jimin Hospital

Beijing Medical Creation

31 December
2022
RMB 000

12,153
18.857
183.112
19,662
10,452
1,154
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31 December
2023
RMB000

51,570
28,004
174,703
37.421
19,298
6.466

31 December
2024
RMB'000)

91,299
24,166
148,820
50,670
28,304
11.279
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14  GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Management have undertaken sensitivity analysis on the impairment test of goodwill. The following table sets
out the hypothetical changes to annual growth rate and pre-tax discount rate that would. in isolation, have removed
the headroom respectively as at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024:

Western Beijing Cancer Hospital
Decrease in annual growth rate
Increase in pre-tax discount rate
Tianjin Nankai Jixing Hospital
Decrease in annual growth rate
Increase in pre-tax discount rate
Anhui Shoukang Investment
Decrease in annual growth rate
Increase in pre-tax discount rate
Hefei Bayway Hospital
Decrease in annual growth rate
Increase in pre-tax discount rate
Wuzhi Jimin Hospital

Decrease in annual growth rate
Increase in pre-tax discount rate
Beijing Medical Creation
Decrease in annual growth rate
Increase in pre-tax discount rate

31 December 31 December 31 December
2022 2023 2024
0.32% 1.92% 4.26%
0.26% 1.34% 2.79%
7.32% 10.54% 9.07%
7.19% 10.91% 8.89%
12.49% 11.86% 10.42%
11.25% 12.51% 8.89%
2.18% 4.16% 7.96%
1.41% 2.86% 4.52%
0.79% 1.25% 1.89%
4.07% 1.05% 1.38%
1.10% 5.64% 9.60%
0.42% 2.89% 6.15%

As a result of the impairment tests, the Company is of the view that there was no impairment of goodwill as

at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024,

15 INVENTORIES

Pharmaceuticals
Medical consumables
Medical equipment
Spare parts

As at 31 December

2022 2023 2024
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
34,745 39,242 45,499
17,071 15,263 11,584
2,741 3.218 4,410
1.341 1,936 1,265
55,898 59.659 62,758

(a)  The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense and included in profit or loss is as

follows:

Carrying amount of inventories sold

Year ended 31 December

2022 2023 2024
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
458,562 575,128 660.986
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16 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

As at 31 December

2022 2023 2024
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000

Trade receivables
— Related parties 39,072 44,209 44,857
— Third parties 113,249 129,951 187,043
Less: loss allowance (3,347) (3.621) (4,270)
148,974 170.539 227,630
Bills receivables 49,938 25,800 34.457
198.912 196,339 262,087

Ageing analysis

As of the end of each reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade receivables. based on the invoice date and

net of loss allowance. is as follows:

As at 31 December

2022 2023 2024

RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000

Within 3 months 126,326 151,885 156.536
3 to 6 months 7,297 10,274 61.977
6 to 9 months 4.406 943 4,162
9 to 12 months 10,945 4.032 3.159
Over 1 year - 3.405 1,796
148.974 170.539 227,630

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising from trade receivables are set out in

Note 2%a).

17 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The Group
As at 31 December
2022 2023 2024
RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB 000
Prepayments for inventories and services 12,158 12,473 15,917
Prepayment for cost incurred in connection with
the proposed issuance of the Company’s
shares (i) 635 2.457 5324
Receivables from related parties (i) 180,624 185,422 86.802
Deposits 5,115 4,339 6.864
Amounts due from staffs in relation to
share-based payments 5,370 4.070 470
Amounts due from non-controlling shareholders
of subsidiary 7.191 - -
Others 2,135 5.811 5.260
213,228 214,572 120,637
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17 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

(i) Prepayment for listing expenses will be deducted from equity upon the listing of the Company’s shares
on the Stock Exchange.

(ii)  Receivables from related parties represent the unsecured, interest-free loans due from hospitals managed
by the Group. which expected to be settled within 1 year.

The Company

Prepayments and other receivables represent the unsecured, interest-free loans due from subsidiary with no
fixed term of repayment and prepayment for cost incurred in connection with the proposed issuance of the Company’s shares.

18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(a)  Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

As at 31 December

2022 2023 2024

RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB 000

Cash on hand 997 1,277 884
Cash at bank 144,765 261,335 311,626
Less: restricted deposits 20,574 20,621 18,270
Cash and cash equivalents 125,188 241,991 294.240

(b)  Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before taxation to cash generated from operations:

Year ended 31 December

Note 2022 2023 2024
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB'000

(Loss)/profit before taxation (62.524) (4,610) 13.312
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 6(c) 74,544 86,271 87.396
Finance costs 6(a) 24,437 27,042 21,677
Net loss/(gain) on disposal of property.

plant and equipment 5 44 179 (2)
COVID-19-related rent concessions from

a lessor (2,741) - -
[mpairment loss on trade and bills

receivables, net 2,063 274 649
Share-based payment transactions 178 B =
Changes in working capital:
— inventories (7,341) (3.761) (3,099)
— trade and bills receivables (33,083) (26.271) (86.415)
— prepayments and other receivables (4.962) 4,012 (4.624)
— trade and bills payables 46,342 67.140 232.530
— other payables 17,089 5.896 (2,477)
— contract liabilities 69,328 (7.797) (44.842)
— restricted cash - - (18.270)
Cash generated from operations 123,374 148.375 195,835
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18  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The tables below detail changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash

flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows from financing activities.

Payable for
Advances acquisition

Interest- from of non-
bearing Lease related controlling
borrowings liabilities parties interests Total

RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
(Note 22) (Note 23) (Note 20) (Note 20)

At 1 January 2022 172.610 176.275 26,934 14,469 390,288

Changes from financing cash

flows:
Proceeds from interest-bearing

borrowings 184,901 - - - 184,901
Repayment of interest-bearing

borrowings (81.136) - - - (81.136)
Interest expense paid (15270) - - - (15.270)
Advances from related parties - - 6,628 - 6,628
Repayment to related parties - - (70,554) - (70.554)
Payment for acquisition of non-

controlling interests - - - (20.874) (20.874)
Capital element of lease rentals

paid - (10,516) - - (10.516)
Interest element of lease rentals

paid - (8.347) - - (8,347)
Total changes from financing

cash flows 88.495 (18.863) (63,926) (20.874) (15,168)

Other changes:
COVID-19-related rent concessions

received (Note 12) - (2,741) - - (2,741)
Increase in lease liabilities from

entering into new leases during

the year - 1,221 = = 1,221
Lease modification - 16,996 - - 16,996
Acquisition of subsidiaries - - 85,000 - 85.000
Acquisition of non-controlling

interests = - - 8,022 8,022
Interest expenses (Note 6(a)) 15,270 8,347 = - 23.617
Total other changes 15,270 23,823 85,000 8,022 132,115

At 31 December 2022 and
1 January 2023 276,375 181,235 48,008 1,617 507.235
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18

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Changes from financing cash
flows:

Proceeds from interest-bearing
borrowings

Repayment of interest-bearing
borrowings

Interest expense paid

Repayment to related parties

Payment for acquisition of non-
controlling interests

Capital element of lease rentals
paid

Interest element of lease rentals
paid

Total changes from financing
cash flows

Other changes:

Interest-bearing borrowings arising
from supplier finance
arrangements

Increase in lease liabilities from
entering into new leases during

the year
Discounted bill receivables matured
Interest expenses (Note 6(a))

Total other changes

At 31 December 2023

Payable for

Advances acquisition
Interest- from of non-
bearing Lease related controlling
borrowings liabilities parties interests Total
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB 000
(Note 22) (Note 23) (Note 20) (Note 20)
243,587 = - - 243,587
(220,197) - - - (220.197)
(18.407) - - - (18.407)
- - (46,510) - (46.510)
- - — (1,011) (1.011)
= (17,729) = - (17,729)
- (8.249) — = (8,249)
4.983 (25.978) (46.510) (1.011) (68.516)
80.161 = = — 80,161
- 15.405 = - 15.405
(28.570) = - - (28.570)
18.407 8.249 - - 26,656
69.998 23,654 - - 93,652
351,356 178.911 1.498 606 532,371
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18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Payable for
Advances  acquisition

Interest- from of non-
bearing Lease related controlling
borrowings liabilities parties interests Total

RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
(Note 22 (Note 23) (Note 20) (Note 20)

At 1 Janiary 2024 351,356 178,911 1,498 606 532,371

Changes from financing cash

flows:
Proceeds from interest-bearing

borrowings 206,808 - - - 206.808
Repayment of interest-bearing

borrowings (350,849) - - - (350.849)
Interest expense paid (13.462) - - - (13.462)
Repayment to related parties - - (1,498) - (1,498)

Payment for acquisition of non-

controlling interests - - - (3.771) (3,771)
Capital element of lease rentals

paid - (19.001) - - (19,001)
Interest element of lease rentals

paid - (8,038) - - (8,038)
Total changes from financing

cash flows (157.503) (27,039) (1,498) (3,771) (189,811)
Other changes:
Interest-bearing borrowings arising

from supplier finance

arrangements 169.875 - - - 169,875
Acquisition of non-controlling

interests - - - 3.165 3.165
Increase in lease liabilities from

entering into new leases during

the year - 1.847 - - 1,847
Lease disposals - (1,689) - - (1.689)
Discounted bill receivables matured (20,000) - - - (20,000)
Interest expenses (Note 6fa)) 13,462 8.038 - - 21,500
Total other changes 163.337 8.196 - 3.165 174,698
At 31 December 2024 357,190 160,068 - - 517,258
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18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
(d)  Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the cash flow statements for leases represented lease rentals paid and comprise the
following:

Year ended 31 December

2022 2023 2024

RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB 000

Within operating cash flows 540 3.118 363
Within financing cash flows 18,863 25,978 27.039
19,403 29,096 27,402

19 TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

As at 31 December

2022 2023 2024

RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000

Trade payables 251,415 249.473 292,183
Bills payables 12,831 1,752 21.697
264.246 251,225 © 313.880

All trade and bills payables are expected to be settled within one year or are repayable on demand.

As of the end of each reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice date, is as
follows:

As at 31 December

2022 2023 2024

RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB'000

Within 3 months 134,335 158,132 163,593
3 to 6 months 81.217 58.430 74,983
6 to 12 months 32.227 17.164 33,401
Over | year 3.636 15,747 20,206
251,415 249473 292,183
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200 OTHER PAYABLES

The Group
As at 31 December
2022 2023 2024
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB’000
Salary and welfare payables 41,963 54,235 63.116
Other taxes payable 13,994 13,193 4.567
Advances from related parties (i) 48.008 1,498 -
Payable for acquisition of

non-controlling  interests 1.617 606 -

Payables for purchase of property. plant and
equipment 13.635 11,007 18.331
Others 35.487 32,987 29,163
154,704 113,526 115,177

(i) Advances from related parties are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed term of payment.
All other payables and accrued expenses are expected to be settled within one year or are repayable on demand.
The Company

As at 31 December

2022 2023 2024
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
Advances from subsidiaries 1.831 15,999 37.158

Advances from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed term of payment.
21 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December

2022 2023 2024
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000

Supply of pharmaceuticals, medical equipment
and consumables 79,901 71,854 25,570
Providing services 3.477 3727 5,169
83.378 75,581 30,739

Contract liabilities primarily relate to the considerations received from customers before the Group satisfying
performance obligations. It would be recognised as revenue upon the rendering of goods and services. The contract liabilities
balance as at 1 January 2022. 2023 and 2024 has been substantially recognised as revenue during the respective
years.
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22

(a)

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

Bank borrowings

Guaranteed by subsidiaries of the
Group

Secured by assets of a related party

Guaranteed by third party guarantee
companies

Guaranteed by the Group and secured
by the trade receivables

Secured by restricted deposits and

secured by the equity of a subsidiary

Unsecured and unguaranteed

Other borrowings from third parties
Secured by property. plant and
equipment
Unsecured and unguaranteed

Other borrowings from related parties

Secured by property. plant and
equipment

Total

Notes:

The Group’s interest-bearing borrowings comprise:

As at 31 December

Note 2022 2023 2024
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
69.110 262.835 335,190
i 3.850 - —
15,000 10,000 -
9.990 9.990 20,000
75.000 50,000 -
31,569 1,000 2,000
204,519 333,825 357.190
i 11,515 2,006 -
131 - —
11,646 2,006 =
1l 60,210 15525 -
276,375 351,356 357,190

This bank borrowing was secured by the property of a subsidiary’s vice president.

(ii)  These borrowings were secured by property. plant and equipment with an aggregated carrying value of
RMB107.830,000 and RMB82,151,000 as at 31 December 2022 and 2023, respectively. The terms of
these borrowings are three years and interest-bearing at 7%-10% per annum.
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22 INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)
(b)  The Group’s interest-bearing borrowings are repayable as follows:

As at 31 December

2022 2023 2024

RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB 000

Within 1 year or on demand 202,010 257314 292,090
1 to 2 years 53,324 21,042 20,500
2 to 5 years 21,041 73.000 44,600
74,365 94,042 65,100

276,375 351,356 357,190

(¢)  Interest-bearing borrowings arising from supplier finance arrangements

The Group has entered into certain reverse factoring arrangements with banks, under which the Group obtained
extended credit in respect of the invoice amounts owed to certain suppliers of household electronic materials.

Under these arrangements, the banks pay suppliers the amounts owed by the Group on the original due dates,
which are normally 0-180 days after the invoice date. The Group then settles with the banks between 30-364 days
after the original due dates with the suppliers.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the Group has presented the payables to the banks under
these arrangements as “interest-bearing borrowings”, in view of the nature and function of such liabilities when
compared with the Group’s trade payables to suppliers. At 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024, the carrying amount
of financial liabilities under these arrangements amounted to RMB0. RMB80.,010.000. RMB129.423,000. respectively,
of which suppliers have received payments from the banks.

At 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024, in the consolidated statement of cash flows, payments to the banks are included

within financing cash flows based on the nature of the arrangements. and payments to the suppliers by the banks
amounting to RMB0, RMB80.161.000 and RMB169.875.000 are non-cash transactionsm, respectively.
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23 LEASE LIABILITIES

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities as at the end
of each reporting period:

As at 31 December

2022 2023 2024
Present Total Present Total Present Total
value of the minimum value of the minimum value of the minimum
minimum lease lease minimum lease lease minimum lease lease
payments payments payments payments payments payments
RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB 000 RMB 000  RMB'000
Within 1 year 21,368 28.246 21,997 30,593 22.908 29,746
1 to 2 years 14,725 20,347 20,947 27.656 18.130 23,697
2 to 5 years 46,216 66,289 57.942 74,977 59.059 73,659
Over 5 years 98.926 125,460 78.025 98.089 59,971 77,359
159.867 212.096 156.914 200,722 137.160 174,715
181,235 240,342 178.911 231315 160.068 204.461
Less: total future interest
expenses (59.107) (52.,404) (44,393)
Present value of lease
liabilities 181,235 178,911 160,068

24 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS
(a) Western Beijing Cancer Hospital

In July 2019, Western Beijing Cancer Hospital, a subsidiary of the Group, adopted a share scheme for its
employees for the purpose of attracting and retaining the best available personnel, and to provide incentive to
employees. Pursuant to the shares scheme, Western Beijing Cancer Hospital are authorised, at its discretion, to invite
senior management talents and high-level technicians of Western Beijing Cancer Hospital to subscribe for Western
Beijing Cancer Hospital’s shares up to 5 million shares. The grantees can only exercise the right at the date of grant
and the granted shares vest immediately.

The number of instruments granted is as follows:

Aggregated
Number of shares exercise price
RMB 000

Shares granted to employees:
— 2 September 2019 345,000 2,967
— 5 February 2021 655,000 5.633
— 29 April 2022 810,000 6,968
Total shares granted 1.810.000 15,568
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24 EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

The fair value of the right to subscribe for Western Beijing Cancer Hospital’s shares is calculated as the
difference between the exercise price and the fair value of Western Beijing Cancer Hospital’s shares. As the exercise
price is not lower than the fair value of Western Beijing Cancer Hospital’s shares, the fair value of the right is
considered as nil.

(b)  Anhui Shoukang Investment

On 11 November 2021, Anhui Shoukang Investment, a subsidiary of the Group, adopted a share scheme for
its employees for the purpose of attracting and retaining the best available personnel, and to provide additional
incentive to employees. Pursuant to the shares scheme. Anhui Shoukang Investment are authorised, at its discretion,
to invite senior management talents and high-level technicians of Huangshan Shoukang Hospital to subscribe for
Anhui Shoukang Investment’s shares up to 8.32 million shares. The grantees can only exercise the right at the date
of grant and the granted shares vest immediately.

The number of instruments granted is as follows:
Aggregation
Number of shares exercise price

RMB 000

Shares granted to employees:

— 19 December 2021 5,875,659 26,558
— 4 October 2022 316,363 1.430
Total shares granted 6,192,022 27,988

The fair value of the right to subscribe for Anhui Shoukang Investment’s shares is calculated as the difference between
the exercise price and the fair value of Anhui Shoukang Investment’s shares. As the exercise price is not lower than
the fair value of Anhui Shoukang Investment’s shares, the fair value of the right is considered as nil.

(¢)  Tianjin Baihui Medical Management

On 25 September 2022, Tianjin Baihui Medical Management, a subsidiary of the Group, adopted a share
scheme for its employees for the purpose of attracting and retaining the best available personnel, and to provide
additional incentive to employees, Tianjin Baihui Medical Management is authorised, at its discretion. to invite senior
management talents and high-level technicians of Tianjin Baihui Medical Management to subscribe for an aggregate
of 6,000,000 shares. representing 30% of the enlarged capital of Tianjin Baihui Medical Management. The grantees
can only exercise the right at the date of grant and the granted shares vest immediately.

The number of instruments granted is as follows:

Number of Aggregated

instruments exercise price

RMB 000

Shares granted to employees in 2022: 6,000,000 6.000

The fair value of the right to subscribe for Tianjin Baihui Medical Management’s shares is estimated to be
RMBO0.03 per share, which is calculated as the difference between the exercise price and the fair value of Tianjin
Baihui Medical Management’s shares.
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25

(a)

(b)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Current taxation in the consolidated statements of financial position represents:

At the beginning of the year
Provision for the year
Income tax paid

At the end of the year

Year ended 31 December

2022 2023 2024
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
8.751 16.756 15.745
16.984 18.993 18.529
(8.979) (20,004€) (27.295)
16,756 15,745 6,979

Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:

The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position and the movements during the year are as follows:

Deferred tax arising from:

At 1 January 2022

Effect of business combinations
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss

At 31 December 2022 and
| January 2023
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss

At 31 December 2023 and
1 January 2024
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss

At 31 December 2024

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities

Accelerated tax
allowance for

Fair value
adjustments
on intangible
assets and

depreciation related Lease Right-of-use
expenses amortisation liabilities assets Total
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
(134) (44,083) 42,620 (40,227) (41.824)
= (5,248) - - (5,248)
50 1.742 2,241 (40) 3,993
(84) (47.589) 44.861 (40267) (43.079)
(3.688) 1.887 (133) 1,131 (803)
(3,772) (45,702) 44,728 (39,136) (43.882)
(1,244) 1,884 (3.961) 4981 1.660
(5.016) (43.818) 40,767 (34,155) (42.222)
As at 31 December

2022 2023 2024

RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000

4,688 5,662 6.765

(47,767) (49.544) (48.987)

(43.079) (43.882) (42.222)
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25 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2(p), the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets
in respect of cumulative tax losses of RMB281.782,000, RMB358.268,000, and RMB333.630.000 at 31 December
2022, 2023 and 2024 respectively, as it is not probable that future taxable profits against which the losses can be

utilised will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the unrecognised tax losses at the end of each of the reporting

period will expire in the following years:

As at 31 December

2022 2023 2024
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000

2023 4,785 - -
2024 49,429 49,429 =
2025 63,752 63,752 63,752
2026 63,533 63,533 60.824
2027 100,283 92,474 75373
2028 - 89,080 63,009
2029 - - 70,672
281,782 358.268 333,630
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26

(a)

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated
equity during the Track Record Period is set out in the consolidated statements of changes in equity. Details of the
changes in the Company’s individual components of equity are set out below:

Share Share Exchange Accumulated
capital premium reserve losses Total

RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Balance at 1 January 2022 43 = - = 43
Changes in equity for 2022:
Loss for the vear - - - (358) (358)
Other comprehensive income - - 41 - 41
Total comprehensive income - — 41 (358) (317)
Issuance of shares % 6,668 = = 0.068
Balance at 31 December 2022

and 1 January 2023 43 6.668 41 (358) 6,394
Changes in equity for 2023:
Loss for the year - - - (15.357) (15,357)
Other comprehensive income - - (1,417) - (1.417)
Total comprehensive income = = (1.417) (15.357) (16.774)
Issuance of shares 35 128.507 - - 128.542
Balance at 31 December 2023
and 1 January 2024 78 135,175 (1,376) (15,715) 118,162

Changes in equity for 2024:
Loss for the year - - - (14.596) (14.596)
Other comprehensive income = ~ 671 N 671
Total comprehensive income = = 671 (14.596) (13.925)
Balance at 31 December 2024 78 135.175 (705) (30.311) 104,237
* The balance represents an amount less than RMBS500.
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26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (CONTINUED)

(b)  Share capital

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 9 December
2021. with an authorised share capital of US$50.000, divided into 5,000,000,000 shares with par value of US$0.00001 each.

Issued share capital

As at 31 December
2022 2023 2024
No. of shares  RMB'000  No. of shares ~ RMB'000 No. of shares ~ RMB'000

At | January 677,717,786 43 682,266,228 43 1,185.361,023 78
Issuance of shares 4.548.442 * 503,094,795 35 - —
31 December 682,266,228 43 1,185.361,023 78 1,185,361,023 78
* The balance represents an amount of less than RMB500.

(¢)  Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium

Share premium represents the difference between the consideration and the par value of the issued and paid-up shares
of the Company.

(ii)  Capital reserve

In July 2021, Beiyi Baihui Medical (Shanghai) entered into a share purchase agreement with then equity
holders to acquire 100% equity interest in Bayzed Medical Investment (“the acquisition™). Capital reserve represented
the paid-in capital and capital reserve of Bayzed Medical Investment before the acquisition, Beiyi Baihui Medical (Shanghai)
after the acquisition but before the completion of Reorganisation, and the consideration paid for the Reorganisation.

Before the Company was incorporated, Bayzed Medical Investment entered into an onshore shareholders
agreement with certain investors, pursuant to which, the investors agreed to invest RMB389.488.000 and
RMB25.,000,000 to acquire 19.42% and 2.02% of the then equity of Bayzed Medical Investment in 2021 and 2022,
respectively. The amounts were reflected as capital contributions to subsidiaries in the statement of changes in equity.

As part of the Reorganisation, the Company. through its wholly-owned subsidiary Bayway Medical Group
Limited (“Bayway Medical™), acquired the 60.13% and 39.87% equity interests in Beiyi Baihui Medical (Shanghai)
from Beiyi Baihui Medical (Shanghai)’s then equity holder at a total consideration of RMB6.824.000 in 2022 and
RMB4,276,000 in 2023, respectively. The consideration paid was reflected as a deemed distribution in the statement
of changes in equity. Immediately following the acquisition, Beiyi Baihui Medical (Shanghai) became an indirectly
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

(iii)  Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements
of operations outside the mainland China. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies as set
out in Note 2(r).
(iv)  Other reserve

The balance of other reserve at the end of each reporting period represents the differences between consideration

paid/received and non-controlling interests acquired/disposed; and accumulated fair value ofequity-settled share-
based payment in accordance with accounting policy in Note 2(o)(ii).
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26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (CONTINUED)
(d)  Dividend
The Company did not declare and pay any dividends since its incorporation.
(e)  Capital management
The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by

pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a reasonable
cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher sharcholder returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and security
afforded by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions,

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

27 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(a)  Taiyuan Peace Hospital

Taiyuan Peace Hospital entered into a purchase agreement with the sole shareholder of Taiyuan City Peace
Hospital, to acquire the business and the net assets of Taiyuan Peace Hospital for a cash consideration of
RMB12,720.000.

The acquisition was completed on 1 January 2022, and after the acquisition, the financial results of the business
was consolidated into the financial statements of the Group.

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the Taiyuan City Peace Hospital as at the date of
acquisition is set out as follows:

RMB 000
Property. plant and equipment 38.050
Right-of-use assets 7.333
Intangible assets 95
Inventories 1.006
Trade and bills receivables 23.243
Prepayments and other receivables 4.077
Cash and cash equivalents 2,305
Trade and bills payables (19.664)
Other payables (42.449)
Contract liabilities (1.276)
Net identifiable assets acquired 12,720
Total consideration 12,720

Since the acquisition. the business contributed revenue of RMB93.737.000 and profit of RMB2,305,000 to the Group’s
results for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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27 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition during the year ended 31 December 2022 is as follows:

RMB 000
Cash consideration paid by the Group 12,720
Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired 2,305
Net cash outflow in respect of the acquisition 10,415

The trade receivables comprise gross contractual amounts due of RMB23.243.000 at the date of acquisition.
(b)  Wuzhi Jimin Hospital

In March 2022, the Group entered into an equity transfer agreement to acquire 80% equity interests in Wuzhi
Jimin Hospital for a cash consideration of RMBI151,000.000.

The acquisition was completed on 1 April, 2022, and after the acquisition, Wuzhi Jimin Hospital became a
subsidiary of the Group and the financial results were consolidated into the financial statements of the Group.

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the Wuzhi Jimin Hospital as at the date of acquisition
is set out as follows:

RMB'000
Property, plant and equipment 93,702
Right-of-use assets 28.569
Intangible assets
— Medical licenses 19.000
— Software 175
Inventories 12.994
Trade and bills receivables 36,924
Prepayments and other receivables 651
Cash at bank and on hand 11,097
Trade and bills payables (43.887)
Other payables (99.909)
Contract liabilities (3,494)
Deferred tax liabilities (4,751)
Net identifiable assets acquired 51,071
Less: Non-controlling interests 10,214
Add: Goodwill arising from acquisition (Note 14) 110,143
Total consideration 151,000

The goodwill is attributable mainly to the skills and technical talent of Wuzhi Jimin Hospital’s work force and
the synergies expected to be achieved from integrating the company into the Group’s existing full-cycle oncology healthcare
services. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.
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27 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition during the year ended 31 December 2022 is as follows:

RMB 000
Cash consideration paid by the Group 151,000
Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired 11,097
Net cash outflow in respect of the acquisition 139.903

Since the acquisition, the subsidiary contributed revenue of RMB144,496,000 and profit of RMBI1,109,000 to
the Group’s results for the year ended 31 December 2022.

If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2022, consolidated revenue and loss for the year ended 31
December 2022 would have been RMB855.155.000 and RMB75,771,000 respectively.

The trade receivables comprise gross contractual amounts due of RMB36.924.000 at the date of acquisition.
(c) Beijing Medical Creation

In 2022, the Group entered into an equity transfer agreement to acquire 100% equity interest of Beijing
Medical Creation for a cash consideration of RMB24.,921.000.

The acquisition was completed on 31 December, 2022, and after the acquisition. Beijing  Medical Creation
became a subsidiary of the Group and the financial results were consolidated into the financial statements of the
Group.

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the Beijing Medical Creation as at the date of
acquisition is set out as follows:

RMB 000
Property, plant and equipment 5,347
Intangible assets 1.989
Prepayments and other receivables 526
Cash and cash equivalents 962
Trade and bills payables (254)
Other payables (8.587)
Deferred tax liabilities (497)
Net identifiable liabilities (514)
Add: Goodwill arising from acquisition (Note [4) 25,435
Total consideration 24,921

The goodwill is attributable mainly to the skills and technical talent of Beijing Medical Creation’s work force
and the synergies expected to be achieved from integrating the company into the Group’s existing full-cycle oncology
healthcare services. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Since the acquisition. the subsidiary has not contributed any revenue or profit to the Group’s results for the
year ended 31 December 2022.
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27 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition is as follows:

RMB 000
Cash consideration paid by the Group in 2021 24,921
Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired 962
Net cash outflow in respect of the acquisition 23,959

If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2022, consolidated revenue and loss for the year ended 31
December 2022 would have been RMB884.716,000 and RMBR0,090,000, respectively.
(d)  Acquisition-related cost

The acquisition-related costs were not significant and had been charged to general and administrative expenses
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as incurred.

(e) Fair value measurement

The valuation technique used for measuring the fair value of intangible assets acquired is multi-period excess
earning method (“MEEM), which is based on expected future economic earnings attributable to the intangible assets.

28  ACQUISITIONS OF NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

(a) In April 2022, the Group acquired additional 30% non-controlling interests of Tianjin Baihui Medical
Management at a consideration of RMB6,000,000 and certain in equity interests of a subsidiary with fair value
of RMBL.800.,000. As a result of the acquisition, the Group’s shareholding in Tianjin Baihui Medical

Management increased from 70% to 100%.

The decrease in equity attributable to equity shareholders of the Company is calculated as follows:

RMB 000
Carrying amount of NCI acquired 3.380
Less: Cash consideration paid 6,000
Less: Fair value of equity interests of a subsidiary transferred 1,800
A decrease in equity attributable to equity shareholders of the Company (4.420)

In December 2022, the Group acquired additional 10.64% non-controlling interests of Tianjin Bayway
Management at the consideration of RMB2,022.000. As a result of the acquisition, the Group’s sharcholding in
Tianjin Bayway Management increased from 89.36% to 100%.

The decrease in equity attributable to equity shareholders of the Company is calculated as follows:

RMB 000
Carrying amount of NCI acquired (78)
Less: Cash consideration paid in 2022 405
Less: Cash consideration paid in 2023 1,011
Less: Cash consideration paid in 2024 606
A decrease in equity attributable to equity sharcholders of the Company (2.100)
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28  ACQUISITIONS OF NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (CONTINUED)
(b) In June 2024, the Group acquired 6.62% non-controlling interests of Yizhong Junan Hospital Management at
the consideration of RMB3.165.000. As a result of the acquisition, the Group’s sharcholding in Yizhong Junan Hospital

Management increased from 58.00% to 64.62%.

The decrease in equity attributable to equity shareholders of the Company is calculated as follows:

RMB 000
Carrying amount of NCI acquired 468
Less: Cash consideration paid in 2024 3.165
A decrease in equity attributable to equity shareholders of the Company (2,697)

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity. and interest rate arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. The Group
is not exposed to significant currency risk.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk management policies and practices used by the
Group to manage these risks are described below.

(a)  Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables and prepayments,
deposits and other receivables. The Group's exposure to credit risk arising from cash at bank is limited because the
counterparties are banks with good credit standing, for which the Group considers having low credit risk. Except for
the financial guarantee given by the Group as set out in note 30(d), the Group does not provide any other guarantees
which would expose the Group to credit risk.

Trade receivables

The Group’s trade receivables due from third parties are mainly arose from providing hospital service to
patients and supplying pharmaceuticals, medical equipment and consumables. without any single customer contributing
material revenue.

For the receivables from hospital service. the Group has concentrated debtor’s portfolio, as majority patients
will claim their medical bill from public medical insurance program. The reimbursement from these organisations
may take one to three months. The Group has policy in place to ensure the treatments and medicines prescribed and provided
to such insured patients are in line with the policies of the respective organisations, and fulfilling all ethics and moral
responsibilities as a healthcare provider. The carrying amount of receivables from public medical insurance programs is
RMB89,839.000, RMB115.235,000 and RMB160.006.000 at 31 December 2022. 2023 and 2024 respectively.

For the receivables from supplying pharmaceuticals, medical equipment and consumables, the Group has granted
credit terms of one to three months and would follow up actively on the settlement with respective counterparties to
avoid any overdue receivables.

The Group has performed an impairment analysis at the end of each reporting period using a provision matrix
to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates are based on aging of trade receivables for groupings of various debtor
segments with similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects the historical credit losses experienced and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the year end date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions.
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29  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

The following tables provides information about the Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade
receivables mainly from supplying pharmaceuticals, medical equipment and consumables:

As at 31 December 2022

Gross carrying Expected
amount loss rate Loss allowance
RMB 000 % RMB'000
Current (not past due) 18,129 0.60% (109)
0 — 3 months past due 1,961 9.38% (184)
4 — 6 months past due 512 48.24% (247
7 — 9 months past due 148 99.32% (147)
10 — 12 months past due 875 100.00% (875)
More than | year past due 1,785 100.00% (1,785)
23,410 (3.347)

As at 31 December 2023

Gross carrying Expected
amount loss rate Loss allowance
RMB 000 % RMB 000
Current (not past due) 10,440 3.19% (333)
0 — 3 months past due 957 24.03% (230)
4 — 6 months past due 248 59.27% (147)
7 — 9 months past due 1,123 85.75% (963)
10 — 12 months past due 73 100.00% (73)
More than 1 year past due 1.875 100.00% (1.875)
14,716 (3,621)

As at 31 December 2024

Gross carrying

Expected loss

amount rate Loss allowance

RMB'000 % RMB 000

Current (not past due) 20,281 1.65% (334)
0 — 3 months past due 3,045 20.16% (614)
4 — 6 months past due 440 35.91% (158)
7 — 9 months past due 235 54.47% (128)
10 — 12 months past due 185 100.00% (185)
More than 1 year past due 2,851 100.00% (2,851)
27,037 (4.270)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the past 12 months. These rates are adjusted to
reflect differences between economic conditions during the period over which the historic data has been collected,
current conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

62



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(Expressed in RMB unless otherwise indicated)

29  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Movements in the loss allowance account in respect of trade receivables from supplying pharmaceuticals,
medical equipment and consumables and providing hospital service during the Track Record Period are as follows:

As at 31 December

2022 2023 2024

RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000

Balance at | January 1.284 3,347 3,621
Impairment losses recognised

during the year 2,063 274 649

Balance at 31 December 3,347 3,621 4,270

Other receivables and due from related parties

In respect of trade receivables due from related parties, other receivables on behalf of deposits and prepayments,

the Group has assessed that the expected credit loss for these receivables is immaterial under 12-month expected losses
method.

(b)  Liquidity risk

As disclosed in note 22(c), the Group has entered into certain reverse factoring arrangements with banks, under which
the Group obtained extended credit in respect of the inveoice amounts owed to certain suppliers. This results in the
Group being required to settle a larger amount with a single counterparty, rather than smaller amounts with several
counterparties. However, the amounts of payables subject to the arrangements are limited.

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending covenants,
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major financial institutions
to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities.
The table has been drawn up based on the contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments computed

using contractual rates or, if floating. based on rates current at the end of each reporting period) and the ecarliest date
on which the Group can be required to pay:

As at 31 December 2022
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
More than More than
Within 1 year but 2 years but
1 year or less than less than  More than Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total amount
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB 000

Interest-bearing

borrowings 213.783 56,327 22,242 = 292,352 276,375
Lease liabilities 28,246 20,347 66,289 125,460 240,342 181.235
Trade and bills

payables 264,246 - - 264,246 264,246
Other payables 154,704 - - 154,704 154,704

660,979 76,674 88,531 125.460 951.644 876,560
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(c)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
(CONTINUED)

Interest-bearing
borrowings
Lease liabilities
Trade and bills
payables
Other payables

Interest-bearing
borrowings
Lease liabilities
Trade and bills
payables
Other payables

Interest rate risk

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
As at 31 December 2023
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
More than More than
Within 1 yearbut 2 years but
1 year or less than less than  More than Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total amount
RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
262,373 22,102 76,312 360,787 351.356
30,593 27,656 74,977 98.089 231,315 178,911
251,225 - - - 251,225 251,225
113,526 - - - 113.526 113.526
657,717 49,758 151,289 98,089 956,853 895,018
As at 31 December 2024
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
More than1  More than 2
Within  year but less years but
1 year or than less than ~ More than Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total amount
RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB 000
303,014 21,367 46,665 - 371.046 357,190
29.746 23,697 73,659 77,359 204.461 160,068
313,880 - - - 313,880 313,880
115,177 - - - 115,177 H5,197
761.817 45,064 120,324 77.359 1,004,564 946,315

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from interest-bearing borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable
rates and at fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk and fair value interest rate risk respectively.
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(i) Interest rate risk profile

The following table, as reported to the management of the Group, details the interest rate risk profile of the
Group’s borrowings at the end of each reporting period:

As at 31 December

2022 2023 2024
Effective Effective Effective
interest interest interest
rate rate rate
%  RMB'000 %  RMB’000 %  RMB'000
Fixed rate borrowings:
3.21% - 0.00% — 0.00% —
— Interest-bearing borrowings 10.00% 161,425 10.00% 272,642 4.65% 301811
4.65% — 4,65% — 4,65% —
— Lease liabilities 4.85% 181.235 4.85% 178.911 4.85% 160,068
342,660 451.553 461.879
Variable rate instruments:
3.80% — 3.80% — 3.35% -
— Interest-bearing borrowings 7.01% 114,950 7.01% 78,714 4.95% 55,379
Total 457,610 530,267 517.258

I =S T oTeTonTaT
(ii)  Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024, it is estimated that a general increase/decrease of 100 basis points in
interest rates, with all other variables held constant, would have decreased/increased the Group’s loss after tax and accumulated
loss by approximately RMB1.,092.000, RMB748,000., and RMB415,000, respectively.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous change in the Group's loss after tax and accumulated
loss that would arise assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at the end of each reporting period. In
respect of the exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arising from floating rate non-derivative instruments held by
the Group at the end of each of the reporting period, the impact on the Group’s loss after tax (and retained profits)
and other components of consolidated equity is estimated as an annualised impact on interest expense or income of
such a change in interest rates. The analysis is performed on the same basis during the Track Record Period.

(d)  Fair value measurement
Fair value of financial instruments carried at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments carried at cost or amortised cost are not materially different
from their fair values at the end of each reporting period.
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30

(a)

(b)

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Names and relationships with related parties

The directors of the Company are of the view that the following parties/companies were related parties that
had transactions or balances with the Group during the years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024:

Name of related parties

Zhengqi Holdings Co., Lid.

Huangshan Shoukang Hospital

Taiyuan Wanbailin District Peace Community
Health Service Center

Chang Xiaosong

Shi Yu

Beijing Bayway Investment Fund Management
Co., Ltd.

Suzhou Beiyi Baihui Investment Partnership
(Limited Partnership)

Key management personnel remuneration

Relationship with the Group

The entity has significant influence over the Group
Entity managed by the Group
Entity managed by the Group

Non-controlling sharcholder and key management
personnel of a subsidiary

Non-controlling sharcholder and key management
personnel of a subsidiary

Entity controlled by ultimate controlling
shareholder

Entity controlled by ultimate controlling
shareholder

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s directors
as disclosed in Note 8 and certain of the highest paid employees as disclosed in Note 9, is as follows:

Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits

Year ended 31 December

2022 2023 2024
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
5.747 7.562 8.351
234 315 340

5.981 7.877 8.691

Total remuneration is included in “staff cost™ (see Note 6(b)).
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30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(¢)  Significant related party transactions
The principal transactions which were carried out in the ordinary course of business are as follows:

Year ended 31 December

2022 2023 2024
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
Sale of goods to related parties
— Huangshan Shoukang Hospital 67,218 137,519 111,571
— Taiyuan Wanbailin District Peace Community
Health Service Center 379 - 24
Provision of service to related parties
— Huangshan Shoukang Hospital 36,106 39.478 37,797
— Taiyuan Wanbailin District Peace Community
Health Service Center 1.209 1,643 1,770
Provision of interest-free advances to
related parties, net of repayment from related
parties
— Huangshan Shoukang Hospital 31,737 6,147 (96.769)
— Taiyuan Wanbailin District Peace Community
Health Service Center - 51 (51
— Shi Yu (1,050) - -
— Zhengqi Holdings Co., Ltd. 2,600 (1,400} (1.800)
Provision of interest-free advances by
related parties, net of repayment to related
parties
— Taiyuan Wanbailin District Peace Community
Health Service Center 6,628 (5,130) (1.498)
— Beijing Bayway Investment Fund Management
Co. Ltd. (14) - -
— Chang Xiaosong (55.000) (30,000) =
— Suzhou Beiyi Baihui Investment Partnership
(Limited Partnership) (15,540) (11.380) -
Proceeds of loans from related party
— Zhengqi Holdings Co., Ltd. 47,000 = =
Repayment of loans from related party
— Zhengqi Holdings Co.. Ltd. (29.928) (48.143) (16.194)
[nterest expenses
— Zhengqi Holdings Co., Ltd. 5,080 3.458 669
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30 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(d)  Balances with related parties

As at 31 December

2022 2023 2024
RMB000 RMB 000 RMB 000
Trade related:
Trade receivables
— Huangshan Shoukang Hospital 37.911 42,571 42,981
— Taiyuan Wanbailin District Peace Community
Health Service Center 1.161 1,638 1.876
Contract liabilities
— Huangshan Shoukang Hospital 79.858 69,338 25,360
Non-trade related:
Amount due from related parties
Other receivables:
— Huangshan Shoukang Hospital (7) 177.424 183,571 86.802
— Taiyuan Wanbailin District Peace Community
Health Service Center - 51 -
— Zhengqi Holdings Co., Ltd. 3,200 1.800 -
Amount due to related parties
Other payables:
— Taiyuan Wanbailin District Peace Community
Health Service Center 6,628 1,498 -
— Chang Xiaosong 30,000 - -
— Suzhou Beiyi Baihui Investment Partnership
(Limited Partnership) 11,380 - -
Interest-bearing  borrowings:
— Zhenggi Holdings Co., Ltd. 60,210 15,525 -
Guarantees provided in respect of loans of
— Huangshan Shoukang Hospital (i) 118,370 132,180 177,615

(i) The non-trade balances from related parties will not be settled prior to the Listing.
(ii) ~ The Group has issued guarantees to certain banks in respect of the credit facilities of RMB254.000,000,
RMB234.000,000 and RMB288.000.000 granted to Huangshan Shoukang Hospital as at 31 December

2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively. The Group does not intend to release the guarantees to related parties
prior to the Listing.

31 IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY

As at 31 December 2024, the directors consider the immediate parent company of the Group to be Bayway
Fund L.P. The ultimate controlling shareholder of the Group is considered to be Xu Xu.
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32 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR BEGINNING ON 1 JANUARY 2024

Up to the date of issue of the consolidated financial statements, the TASB has issued a number of new or
amended standards, which are not yet effective for the accounting period beginning on | January 2024 and which

have not been adopted in the consolidated financial statements.

Lack of Exchangeability (Amendments to 1AS 21)

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments
(Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7)

Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity
(Amendments to [FRS 9 and [FRS 7)

Presentation and Disclosure in the Financial Statements (IFRS 18)

Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures (IFRS 19)

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture (Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28)

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

1 January 2025
1 January 2026

1 January 2026
1 January 2027

1 January 2027
To be determined

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these developments is expected
to be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a

significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

33 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

No significant subsequent events have occurred subsequent to 31 December 2024.
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